Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2018

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Steven Norman Powell, Defendant/Appellant: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§ 77-18a-1(1)(a); 78A-4-103(2)(j); and Utah R. App. P. 3(a).

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Powell respectfully requests this Court to reverse his conviction based upon the legal insufficiency of the evidence and/or because of the involved due process violations. He alternatively seeks a new trial based on erroneous jury instructions.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES, PRESERVATION, AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether the court erred in not granting Mr. Powell's motion for a directed verdict. Prior counsel preserved the issue by requesting "a motion for a directed verdict" and a general reference to the lack of surveillance store video footage or the lack of "additional information . . . that corroborates what these witnesses are alleged to have seen." R 491. To the extent that the issue was not preserved in the manner raised on appeal, Mr. Powell advances the argument under the ineffective assistance of counsel ("IAC"). "To succeed on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that the defendant was prejudiced thereby." *State v. Martinez*, 2015 UT App 193, ¶ 30, 357 P.3d 27, 33 (citation omitted).

Ineffective assistance of counsel is thought of as an exception to preservation because a claim for ineffective assistance does not mature until after counsel makes an error. Thus, while it is not typical exception to preservation, it allows criminal defendants to attack their counsel's failure to effectively raise an issue below that would have resulted in a different outcome. Such a claim can be brought in a post-trial motion or on direct appeal.

State v. Johnson, 2017 UT 76,23,416 P.3d 443 (citation omitted). In regards to this Court's legal review of the sufficiency of the evidence:

We may reverse a verdict "only when the evidence, so viewed, is sufficiently inconclusive or inherently improbable such that reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt that defendant committed the crime for which he or she was convicted." At the same time, a review of a sufficiency of the evidence argument may also present a threshold question of law—of the elements of the underlying offense. And on that question, of course, our review is non-deferential, as our interpretation of the terms of the criminal law is ours to make de novo.

State v. Bagnes, 322 P.3d 719 (Utah, 2014) (citations omitted).

- 2. Whether counsel's failure to object to the flawed jury instructions constituted deficient performance to the extent that it prejudiced Mr. Powell's right to a fair trial by inadequately and improperly instructing the jury on the elements of the offense. *See Mvers v. State*, 2004 UT 31, ¶ 20, 94 P.3d 211 ("The failure to instruct a jury with appropriate definitions and elements for the charged offense similarly amounted to deficient performance by counsel that fell below an objective standard of reasonableness to the prejudice of the defendant."). Since prior counsel did not preserve the issue, the issue is raised under the above IAC standards.
- 3. Whether counsel performed deficiently and prejudicially by failing to move to dismiss the case based on a due process violation for lost or destroyed evidence. *See State v. DeJesus*, 2017 UT 22, at ¶ 30 ("due process clause requires the State to preserve exculpatory evidence from loss or destruction, . . ."). Since prior counsel did not preserve the issue, the issue is raised under the above IAC standards. In addition, questions of law

are reviewed under a correction of law standard.

4. Whether, pursuant to Rule 23B, this Court should remand the case to the trial court for the entry of non-speculative findings of fact in furtherance of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *See* Utah R. App. P. 23B. Mr. Powell's motion, memorandum, and affidavit were filed as separate companion pleadings to the filing of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 21, 2015 the State filed an Information, charging Steven Norman Powell with two counts of Lewdness with prior offense, two third degree felonies, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702(2)(b). R. 1-6. On October 3, 2017, the jury found him guilty on both counts. R. 176-177. On January 8, 2018, the court sentenced him, *inter alia*, to two concurrent terms of 0 - 5 years in prison. R. 220-222. Mr. Powell's appeal followed. R. 223-228

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The statement of the facts are more fully stated in the body of the briefs, with the Points therein factually incorporating and cross-referencing essentially the other sections of the brief. In addition, Mr. Powell submitted separately other facts through his affidavit in support of his motion for a Rule 23B hearing.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The elements in the jury instructions failed to properly and legally define the crime

of Lewdness. Elements 3.a. and 3.b., which were listed as alternative options for the jury to select, incorrectly allowed them to *not* make a factually finding on the element of age – an essential ingredient of the offense. The elements instructions also failed to list the "attempt" language therein, which corresponds to the "intentional" or specific intent mens rea necessary for the crime. Appellate opinions interpreting the meaning of lewdness or analogous situations require the defendant's mental state to be "lascivious," which was absent from the circumstances here. A showing of "irregular indulgence of lust" did not apply to Mr. Powell, a handicapped person incapable of an erection and who was viewed covering himself up – the complete opposite of a flasher or flaunter of his private areas.

Prior counsel was similarly deficient for not moving to dismiss the case based on the State's failure to keep critical video surveillance footage of the involved incidents. The lost or destroyed DVD evidence provided an independent depiction of what had actually occurred in the two stores. Through their notes to the court, it was evident that the jurors had not necessarily accepted at face value the State witnesses' claims that Mr. Powell had exposed himself. The jurors' notes asked details that only the store DVD could have provided.

Mr. Powell additionally and separately filed a Rule 23B motion, memorandum, and affidavit in furtherance of his request for a remanded proceeding in order for the trial court to enter non-speculative findings of fact for subsequent argument on appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. PRIOR COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR NOT OBJECTING TO THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS

The jury instructions on lewdness, Instructions 18 & 19, did not accurately nor completely excerpt the statute's language for lewdness into the court's instructions.

Instruction 18 read in pertinent part:

STEVEN NORMAN POWELL is charged in Counts 1 with Lewdness occurring between October 1, 2014 through October 31, 2014. You cannot convict him of this offense unless, based on the evidence, you find beyond a reasonable doubt each of the following elements:

- 1. STEVEN NORMAN POWELL;
- 2. Intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly performed any of the following acts:
 - a. An act of sexual intercourse or sodomy;
 - b. Exposed his genitals, buttocks, anus, or his pubic area;
 - c. Masturbated; or
 - d. Any other act of lewdness
- 3. And did so
 - a. In a public place or
 - b. Under circumstances which the defendant should have known would likely cause affront or alarm to another 14 years of age or older.

R 198-199; Addenda (for Instructions 18 & 19, the elements and language are essentially identical except for the listed offense date. A copy of the jury instructions are contained

in the Addenda). For comparison and review, the lewdness statute reads in pertinent part:

- (1) A person is guilty of lewdness if the person under circumstances not amounting to rape, object rape, forcible sodomy, forcible sexual abuse, aggravated sexual assault, sexual abuse of a minor, unlawful sexual conduct with a 16- or 17-year-old, custodial sexual relations or misconduct under Section 76-5-412 or 76-5-413, or an attempt to commit any of these offenses, performs any of the following acts in a public place or under circumstances which the person should know will likely cause affront or alarm to, on, or in the presence of another who is 14 years of age or older:
 - (a) an act of sexual intercourse or sodomy;
 - (b) exposes his or her genitals, the female breast below the top of the areola, the buttocks, the anus, or the pubic area;
 - (c) masturbates; or
 - (d) any other act of lewdness.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702(1).

As more fully set forth below, counsel performed ineffectively by not objecting to the elements instructions on lewdness and by failing to insert the required legal standards into the instructions to the jury. *See Mvers v. State*, 2004 UT 31, ¶ 20, 94 P.3d 211 ("The failure to instruct a jury with appropriate definitions and elements for the charged offense similarly amounted to deficient performance by counsel that fell below an objective standard of reasonableness to the prejudice of the defendant.").

A. The Elements Instructions Omitted the Element of Age and the Jury was Improperly Relieved of its Duty to Factually Find that the Act Involved a Person "14 Years of Age or Older"

Element 3 of Instruction 18 was incorrect. 3.a and 3.b should not have been listed

in the alternative. R 198-199. If, as allowed in the case at bar, the jury deliberated and factually found that the alleged act occurred at Walmart, "a public place," *see id.*, the jurors may have reached such a verdict *without* finding the age element. Age matters under the statute.

Age should have been included as a mandatory element in the Instructions (and not as an optional element that was listed in the alternative). The 14 years of age demarcation is not superfluous language. "14 years of age or older" is statutory language expressly contained in the Lewdness statute, *see* Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702(1), but expressly omitted in the Lewdness involving a child statute. Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702.5. As a distinguishing element, "under 14 years of age" applies to lewdness involving a child and that statute imposes greater penalties for the same acts of lewdness when a child was involved. *Compare* Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702(1) (lewdness is generally a class B misdemeanor if an act of sexual intercourse is performed "in the presence of another who is 14 years of age or older") *with* Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702.5 (lewdness involving a child is generally a class A misdemeanor if the same act [of sexual intercourse] is performed "in the presence of a child who is under 14 years of age").

"If a fact was by law essential to the penalty, it was an element of the offense." *Alleyne v. United States*, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 2154 (2013); *id.* at 2155 ("The touchstone for determining whether a fact must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt is whether the fact constituted an 'element' or 'ingredient' of the charged offenses"); *id.* at 2165

(Sotomayor, J., concurring) ("a legislature may not remove from the jury the assessment of facts that increase the prescribed range of penalties to which a criminal defendant is exposed").

In Mr. Powell's case, the statute allowed the jury to convict him without finding that he performed a lewd act "in the presence of another who is 14 years of age or older." Under the flawed options available in the Instructions, the jury may have found that he recklessly performed any other act of lewdness in a public place. R 198-99. The jury was allowed to ignore the element of age under the flawed alternative options, listed as a choice between element 3.a or 3.b. The necessary age element, which had to be factually found here by the jury to be "a person 14 years of age or older," distinguished the adult lewdness charge from the same act, which if performed "in the presence of a child who is under 14 years of age," would have been a lewdness involving a child charge. Due to the absence of a mandatory finding on the element concerning age, the Instructions were impermissibly flawed.

Since the jury did not necessarily and mandatorily have to make a factual finding on the element of age, it would be improper to speculate on what the jurors' decision-making process may have been or may not have been. Having an alternative option, which was erroneous and unlawful, was not a permissible option for the jury to consider. "Because of the erroneous instruction, there is no way of knowing [which interpretation] the jury found" *State v. Pearson*, 1999 UT App 220, ¶ 13; *Hedgpeth v. Pulido*, 555 U.S.

57, 58 (2008) (per curiam) ("[a] conviction based on a general verdict is subject to challenge if the jury was instructed on alternative theories of guilt and may have relied on an invalid one"); Francis v. Franklin, 471 U.S. 307, 322 (1985) ("Nothing in these specific sentences or in the charge as a whole makes clear to the jury that one of these contradictory instructions carries more weight than the other. Language that merely contradicts and does not explain a constitutionally infirm instruction will not suffice to absolve the infirmity. A reviewing court has no way of knowing which of the two irreconcilable instructions the jurors applied in reaching their verdict"); see Pearson, 1999 UT App 220, ¶ 12 (citations omitted) (failure to incorporate an instruction that accurately states the law is prejudicial "[b]ecause '[t]he general rule is that an accurate instruction upon the basic elements is essential' [and] 'failure to provide such an instruction is reversible error that can never be considered harmless"); State v. O'Bannon, 2012 UT App 71 ("[a]n error is prejudicial if it tends to mislead the jury to the prejudice of the complaining party or insufficiently or erroneously advise[s] the jury on the law").

Due to counsel's ineffective and prejudicial performance in not objecting to and correcting the elements Instructions, Mr. Powell requests a new trial with properly worded jury instructions. *See Mvers v. State*, 2004 UT 31, ¶ 20, 94 P.3d 211 ("The failure to instruct a jury with appropriate definitions and elements for the charged offense similarly amounted to deficient performance by counsel that fell below an objective standard of reasonableness to the prejudice of the defendant.").

B. A Jury Instruction May Not Define A Crime In A Manner Different Than The Legislative Enactments

The above comparison between the words in the court's Instructions and the statutory language reveal additional errors. The statutory clause, "or an attempt to commit any of these offenses," was part of the plain language of the lewdness statute but not part of the court's element Instructions. R 198-99; *cf.* Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702(1). Without the statutory "or an attempt to commit any of these offenses" clause, the specific intent requirement was omitted from the court's Instructions. At the very least, the court's Instructions did not track the statutory language nor did it accord relevant caselaw interpretations.

When a charge involves an "attempt" – like the word's inclusion in the lewdness statute – an "attempt to commit any of these offenses" encompasses a specific intent requirement that may not be coupled with a "reckless" standard of proof. *State v. Norman*, 580 P.2d 237 (Utah 1978) ("An attempt to commit a crime is an act done with the intent to commit that crime. . . ."). In other words, a higher mental state like "intentionally" is required when the attempt statute is used, not recklessly as it was improperly listed as an alternative mens rea in Mr. Powell's case. *State v. Vigil*, 842 P.2d 843 (Utah 1992) (where the court held that the attempt statute required the mental state of "intent" notwithstanding the State's arguments to allow lesser mens rea standards; "the word "intent" as used in paragraph (2) of the attempt statute should be read to mean 'conscious objective or desire[;]' This meaning of the word 'intent' obviously is

distinguishable from knowledge of the proscribed conduct or result [or reckless]").

In Mr. Powell's elements' Instructions, the jury was allowed to convict him with an inapplicable lesser mental state. *See* R 198-99 (element 2 of the Instructions asked the jury to find, in the alternative, any one of three mental states: "Intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly performed any of the following acts"). Pursuant to a statute – which a court Instruction or counsel may not disregard – the higher mental state of "intentionally" was the only corresponding mens rea for an attempted crime. *Vigil*, 842 P.2d 843; *State v Casey*, 2003 UT 55, ¶ 33 (amended opinion) (citation omitted) ("in a prosecution for criminal attempt, where alternative culpable mental states will satisfy the target offense, but only one is compatible with the attempt statute, the incompatible element must be omitted from the jury instructions").

Counsel performed ineffectively and in a prejudicial manner when they failed to impose a specific intent requirement into the court's Instructions. Even in the alternative, allowing the jury to find a lesser mental state like knowingly or recklessly for a specific intent crime fell short of the statutory mens rea requirement for an attempt offense. *See id.; Mvers v. State,* 2004 UT 31, ¶ 20, 94 P.3d 211 ("The failure to instruct a jury with appropriate definitions and elements for the charged offense similarly amounted to deficient performance by counsel that fell below an objective standard of reasonableness to the prejudice of the defendant."); *see generally* Points I, II, and III (to avoid repetition, each Point within the brief is cross-referenced with other Points herein to the extent that

they apply).

C. The Specific Intent Requirement is Consistent With Relevant Authority and Applicable Case Law

In addition to the requirement of not excluding the plain language of a statute from the court's instructions to the jury, prior counsel should have specifically requested the attempt language from the lewdness statute as a lesser included instruction. Doing so would have more appropriately put the mens rea element in synch with a companion statute, Lewdness involving a child, Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702.5, and appellate opinions on the issue relating to the legal insufficiency of the evidence.

1. A "Reckless" Mental State Does Not Apply to the Involved Charge

The prohibitions contained in the Lewdness involving a child statute are similar to, and in some instances identical with, the prohibitions in the Lewdness statute. Utah Code Ann. §§ 76-9-702; 76-9-702.5. Significantly, the legislative protections are greater when a child is "under 14 years of age." For persons "14 years of age or older" lewdness applies only to a public place, Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702, but when a child is "under 14 years of age," the same acts of lewdness applies to private places and to specified circumstances not amounting to sexual exploitation of a child:

- (1) A person is guilty of lewdness involving a child if the person under circumstances not amounting to rape of a child, object rape of a child, sodomy upon a child, sexual abuse of a child, aggravated sexual abuse of a child, or an attempt to commit any of those offenses, <u>intentionally or knowingly</u> does any of the following to, or in the presence of, a child who is under 14 years of age:
 - (a) performs an act of sexual intercourse or sodomy;

- (b) exposes his or her genitals, the female breast below the top of the areola, the buttocks, the anus, or the pubic area:
 - (i) in a public place; or
 - (ii) in a private place:
 - (A) under circumstances the person should know will likely cause affront or alarm; or
 - (B) with the intent to arouse or gratify the sexual desire of the actor or the child;
- (c) masturbates;
- (d) under circumstances not amounting to sexual exploitation of a child under Section 76-5b-201, causes a child under the age of 14 years to expose his or her genitals, anus, or breast, if female, to the actor, with the intent to arouse or gratify the sexual desire of the actor or the child; or
- (e) performs any other act of lewdness.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702.5(1) (emphasis added).

For the mens rea, "intentionally or knowingly" is the mental state for the Lewdness involving a child statute. *Id.* Conspicuously absent is the "recklessly" mental state when a child "under 14 years of age" is involved. When a defendant engages in inappropriate conduct with younger children (under 14 years), more severe sanctions come into play. *Compare* Utah Code Ann. (lewdness is generally a class B misdemeanor if an act of sexual intercourse is performed "in the presence of another who is 14 years of age or older") *with* Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-702.5 (lewdness involving a child is generally a class A misdemeanor if the same act [of sexual intercourse] is performed "in the presence of a child who is under 14 years of age").

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