2019

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Steven Norman Powell,
Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellee**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Powell claims that counsel was ineffective for not moving to dismiss the case on due process grounds, arguing that the State failed to preserve the surveillance video. But the State never possessed the Walmart surveillance video – it had already been recorded over before the detective could see it – and the detective only collected the screenshots from the Shopko video. Moreover, the record does not support Powell’s claim that the Shopko video was lost or destroyed. In light of controlling caselaw, reasonable counsel could conclude that a motion to dismiss would fail. And among the reasons it would fail is that the video would show no more than what the State admitted – the video did not show Powell with his genitals exposed.

Powell also claims that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the elements instructions for lewdness. But again, reasonable counsel could conclude that the elements instructions accurately set forth the law, i.e., lewdness does not involve an attempt, the relevant mental state for lewdness includes recklessness, and caselaw defining “any other act of lewdness” did not apply in this case because Powell’s charges rested on evidence that he exposed his genitals.

Powell also contends that the district court erred in denying his motion for a directed verdict based on insufficient evidence. But where Anastasia and her mother testified that they saw Powell with his genitals exposed in Walmart and Shopko, and Powell admitted to the detective that he was at the stores on the nights in question and exposed himself for the thrill of it, the evidence was more than sufficient to submit the case to the jury.

ARGUMENT

I.

Powell's trial counsel was not ineffective for not moving to dismiss the case on due process grounds and for not objecting to the elements instructions on lewdness.

Powell claims that his trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for two reasons. He contends that counsel was ineffective for not moving to dismiss the case on due process grounds for the alleged failure of the police department to preserve exculpatory evidence, to wit, surveillance videos from both Walmart and Shopko. Aplt.Br. 35-50 (point III). And he argues that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the elements instructions on lewdness. Aplt.Br. 5-20 (point I).

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must make the two-part showing established in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). He must prove that (1) counsel's performance was deficient," and (2) "the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." *Id.* at 687. Because a defendant must make "both showings," a failure to prove either *Strickland* element is fatal to an ineffective-assistance claim. *Id.* The bar for proving ineffective assistance is high and "never an easy task." *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 371 (2010). Powell has not overcome that high bar.

A. Trial counsel was not ineffective for not moving to dismiss the case on due process grounds.

Powell claims that his trial counsel was ineffective for not moving to dismiss the case on due process grounds based on the police department's alleged failure to preserve video surveillance from Walmart and Shopko. Aplt.Br. 35-50. As noted, Powell "must show both that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that there exists a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 375 (1986). Powell's ineffective-assistance claim fails for three reasons. First, his claim is not, at least in part, supported by the record. Second, Powell does not argue, let alone prove, that counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial. And third, counsel could not prove either deficient performance or prejudice.

1. The record does not support Powell's contention that the Shopko surveillance video was not available to trial counsel.

Powell's ineffective-assistance claim fails at the outset because it is based, at least in part, on alleged facts not supported by the record.

The law is settled that "a defendant cannot bring an ineffective assistance of counsel claim on appeal without pointing to specific instances *in the record* demonstrating both counsel's deficient performance and the

prejudice it caused defendant.” *State v. Griffin*, 2015 UT 18, ¶16 (emphasis added). Powell’s claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not moving to dismiss rests, in part, on the premise that the State seized the Shopko surveillance video, never made it available to trial counsel, and then lost or destroyed it. But none of those alleged facts appear in the record.

Powell claims that Det. Vincent “lost or destroyed [the video] after viewing the footage.” Aplt.Br. 42,46-47 (cleaned up). But he does not cite to anything in the record supporting that proposition. Det. Vincent testified that Shopko pulled the surveillance video for him, that he reviewed it, and that he took some screenshots showing Powell in the store and Powell’s van outside the store. R458-59; SE2-3. But there is nothing in the record suggesting that Det. Vincent kept the video, that it was not available for trial counsel’s review at Shopko, or if the detective kept the video, that he lost or destroyed it, or that the prosecution did not make it available to trial counsel.

In sum, the record does not support the allegations made in the brief related to the Shopko video. Consequently, Powell’s ineffective-assistance claim related to the Shopko video fails at the outset.

2. Powell fails to argue, let alone prove, both deficient performance and prejudice.

In any event, Powell’s ineffective-assistance argument on appeal is fatally lacking.

As noted, Powell must show both deficient performance and prejudice to prove ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id.* But because “defense counsel’s failure to litigate a [due process] claim is the principle allegation” of Powell’s claim of ineffectiveness,” he bears an additional burden: he “*must also prove that his ... claim is meritorious and that there is a reasonable probability that the verdict would have been different*” as a result. *Id.* (emphasis added).

Thus, in addition to proving deficient performance and prejudice, Powell must prove that any such motion would have succeeded. If he cannot do that, his ineffectiveness claim is a nonstarter. *See State v. Kelley*, 2000 UT 41, ¶26, 1 P.3d 546. *On the other hand*, proving that he would have succeeded on the motion is not nearly enough to prevail on his ineffectiveness claim – it is only a beginning. As the U.S. Supreme Court explained, a concession that a particular motion would have succeeded “*is not the same as a concession that no competent attorney would think a motion ... would have failed, which is the relevant question under Strickland.*” *Premo v. Moore*, 562 U.S. 115, 124 (2011) (emphasis added).

In his brief, Powell does no more than argue that a motion to dismiss on due process grounds would have succeeded. Relying on the due process analysis set forth in *State v. DeJesus*, 2017 UT 22, 395 P.3d 111, Powell contends that (1) there is a reasonable probability the surveillance videos would have

been exculpatory, Aplt.Br. 38-41, and (2) dismissal was merited because (a) the police department had a duty to collect and preserve the evidence, Aplt.Br. 41-44, and (b) its failure to do so resulted in prejudice inasmuch as the surveillance footage “would have been a complete and continuously filmed recording of [him] while he was in the store,” Aplt.Br. 45-50. This is the sum and substance of Powell’s ineffective-assistance argument.

Powell’s ineffective-assistance claim is lacking. Indeed, the Court can, for the sake of argument, assume that a motion to dismiss “would have succeeded,” *Premo*, 562 U.S. at 124, just as Powell argues in his brief, Aplt.Br. 35-50. But “that is not the same as [demonstrating] that no competent attorney would think a motion to [dismiss] would have failed, which is the relevant question under *Strickland*.” *Id.* Even though “a meritorious [due process] issue is necessary to the success of a Sixth Amendment claim like [Powell’s], a good [due process] claim alone will not earn” him relief on appeal. *Kimmelman*, 477 U.S. at 382. Powell must still “prove under *Strickland* that [he has] been denied a fair trial by the gross incompetence of [his] attorneys.” *Id.*

Because Powell does no more than argue that a motion to dismiss on due process grounds would have succeeded, he has not surmounted the “highly demanding” burden of proving ineffective assistance. *See id.* He has not argued, let alone proven, that his counsel was deficient for not moving to

dismiss on due process grounds. Again, that is so even assuming *arguendo* the motion would have succeeded – Powell must also demonstrate that “no competent attorney would think a motion to [dismiss] would have failed.” *Premo*, 562 U.S. at 124. He has not argued, let alone proven, that not filing the motion resulted in prejudice. In the context of *Strickland*, that means that had he filed a motion, there is a “substantial” likelihood of a different result at trial. *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 111-12 (2011). For these reasons, Powell has not overcome the high bar for proving ineffective assistance and the Court should reject his claim.

3. Powell could not prove that all competent counsel would believe that a motion to dismiss would succeed.

In any event, Powell could not meet *Strickland's* high bar because reasonable counsel could conclude that any motion to dismiss would fail (and incidentally, it would have). Applying its holding in *State v. Tiedemann*, 2007 UT 49, 162 P.3d 1106, the Utah Supreme Court in *DeJesus* recognized a “two-step analysis” in assessing whether a defendant’s due process rights are violated when the State loses or destroys evidence in its possession, and if so, the appropriate sanction. *DeJesus*, 2017 UT 22, ¶27. First, the defendant must make a “threshold” showing that the State violated due process by “demonstrating a reasonable probability that the lost evidence would have been exculpatory.” *Id.* Second, if the defendant makes that threshold

showing, the court then “must balance the culpability of the State and the prejudice to the defendant in order to gauge the seriousness of the due process violation and to determine an appropriate remedy.” *Id.*

But caselaw governing the State’s due process obligation to preserve evidence extends only to evidence it possesses: “It is a matter of clear Utah law that criminal defendants are entitled to information *possessed by the State* to aid in their defense.” *State v. Tiedemann*, 2007 UT 49, ¶40, 162 P.3d 1106 (emphasis added).

Reasonable counsel could thus conclude that the due process requirements identified in *Tiedemann* and *DeJesus* did not apply here because the State never possessed the video footage. Det. Vincent never even saw video footage from Walmart because by the time the case came across his desk, Walmart had recorded over it. R458,470. And although Det. Vincent testified that Shopko pulled surveillance video for him to review, R458, the record does not show that he seized the recording. He testified that he “collected some of that,” to wit, the photo showing Powell in the store (SE2) and the photo of Powell’s van (SE3). *See* R458-59. Det. Vincent’s video review was akin to police investigating a crime scene in search of physical evidence – detectives will collect evidence they conclude is relevant and leave the rest behind. In this case, Det. Vincent confirmed that the surveillance

video never captured Powell with his genitals exposed. R472. As a result, he captured screen shots establishing Powell's presence in the store that night – nothing more.

In arguing a due process violation, Powell makes broad and far-reaching claims that the stores themselves have an “independent duty ... to maintain the video” and that law enforcement has a duty to conduct “some minimal police investigation to preserve potential evidence for future use,” including “an initial quick inquiry” so that video evidence will be preserved. Aplt.Br. 43-44. Powell contends that the police in this case “additionally bear the burden for not having an immediate screening or filtering process in how and when they respond to a citizen’s online report of a crime.” Aplt.Br. 44. But Powell cites no case law supporting these broad propositions and the State can find none.

A similar argument was made more than three decades ago: “The defendant urges this Court to recognize a duty of the prosecution to gather all relevant evidence regardless of its impact on the success of the prosecution.” *State v. Shaffer*, 725 P.2d 1301, 1306 (Utah 1986). And the Utah Supreme Court rejected it, holding that “[a]lthough the prosecution and investigators should preserve all incriminating and exculpatory evidence material to a case, the prosecution is *not required* to search for exculpatory

evidence, conduct tests, or exhaustively pursue every angle on a case.” *Id.* (cleaned up) (emphasis added); accord *State v. Bakalov*, 1999 UT 45, ¶50, 979 P.2d 799 (quoting *Shaffer*). The Court explained that “imposing a duty on the prosecution to search for all relevant evidence ... would require Herculean efforts by the prosecution. *Shaffer*, 725 P.2d at 1306. And imposing such a duty “before a suspect has been identified and before the State is notified of possible defenses, is to require the impossible.” *Id.*

In sum, given the facts of the case and the controlling caselaw, reasonable counsel could conclude that a motion to dismiss would fail because the police never possessed the surveillance videos.

Reasonable counsel could also conclude that there was not a reasonable probability that the video would have been exculpatory—even if the State had possessed and lost it. In *DeJesus*, the Utah Supreme Court held that “in order to satisfy the reasonable probability standard in the lost evidence context, “a defendant must make some proffer as to the lost evidence and its claimed benefit.” 2017 UT 22, ¶39. And the court held that “[s]o long as the lost evidence and its claimed benefit is not pure speculation or wholly incredible, the standard will be satisfied.” *Id.* But Powell’s proffer here is pure speculation.

Without record support, Powell claims that Walmart and Shopko have “security surveillance systems in place from above and at multiple angles from within the store” that “would have captured his exposed state at one angle or another for at least a second or more.” Aplt.Br. 38-39. But the only testimony on the coverage of the surveillance cameras came from the officer, who testified that “Shopko only has a specific amount of cameras” and thus a person moving around the store would not always be in the camera’s view. R478. Powell proffered no evidence – from store personnel or anyone else – that the cameras would have captured him where the two women said he exposed himself. Powell claims that the screenshot from the Shopko video (SE2) shows him in the same clothing section that Anastasia and her stepmom saw him exposing himself (SE1), but again, there was no testimony to that fact and it is not apparent from a comparison of the photos. Again, Powell’s claim is pure speculation.

Powell nevertheless contends that there was a reasonable probability that the video would have provided exculpatory evidence because it “would have been a complete and continuously filmed recording of [him] while he was in the store.” Aplt.Br. 46. But even assuming for the sake of argument that were true, the Utah Supreme Court has held that such is insufficient to show a reasonable probability: “It is certainly true that a video recording of

the incident would have been highly probative of what truly happened. But simply stating that video recordings can be helpful to determine truth does not establish that this particular video recording would have been helpful to [defendant] in the specific circumstances of his case.” *State v. Mohamud*, 2017 UT 23, ¶21, 395 P.3d 133.

Given this case law, reasonable counsel could again conclude that a motion to dismiss would have failed.

Additionally, reasonable counsel could conclude that dismissal would not result even if there were a reasonable probability that the video would have provided exculpatory information. *DeJesus* holds that in determining an appropriate sanction, courts must consider both the culpability of the State and the prejudice suffered. 2017 UT 22, ¶27. As noted, the caselaw suggests that the State bore no responsibility for collecting the evidence. Moreover, the State never claimed that the video would have corroborated its witnesses, as was the case in both *Tiedemann* and *DeJesus*. In fact, Det. Vincent testified that in tracking Powell’s movements, he “never found any footage of him exposing himself,” despite the ability to zoom in on images. R472. Accordingly, the video would have been no more probative than the detective’s testimony. Under these circumstances, reasonable counsel could conclude that a motion to dismiss would not have succeeded.

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